**RECEIVED**

**Oct 24 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RANDY DEAN GRAINGER,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000598

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

LARA M. CAUDY  
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial court err by denying Appellant's motion to suppress evidence from a cell phone "tower dump" obtained by law enforcement from Verizon Wireless in violation of Appellant's rights under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and his right to privacy under Article 1, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution where the affidavit in support of the search warrant failed to establish probable cause?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Horry County grand jury indicted Appellant on October 20, 2021 for two counts of murder, two counts of criminal conspiracy, third degree arson, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 507 – 518. His case was called to trial on April 3, 2023 before the Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr., and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitor Mary Ellen Walter represented the state. R. 1. Jonathan Hiller and Martin Spratlin represented Appellant. R. 1.

On April 6, 2023, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 493, ll. 7-25. He was sentenced to life without parole for each count of murder pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45, fifteen years for third degree arson, and five years for each count of criminal conspiracy. No sentence was imposed for the weapons offense pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490(A). R. 498, l. 1 – 499, l. 24.

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 18, 2018, Horry County Police responded to an abandoned vehicle parked in the middle of a farming field off Highway 917 and Cookes Circle. The vehicle was surrounded by tall vegetation making it difficult to see from the roadway. The windows, including the windshield, were “blacked out.” The responding officer opened the door, which was unlocked, to see if anyone was inside. He discovered extensive fire damage to the passenger compartment and soot all over the windows. It looked like someone had tried to set the vehicle on fire. The officer ran the tag and obtained an address for the registered owner. He requested “an attempt to locate” the owner to see if the owner knew their vehicle was abandoned in a field. R. 56, l. 11 – 63, l. 21.

While the first officer stood by the vehicle, another officer responded to 4591 Highway 19 in Conway. As he pulled into the driveway, the officer saw two vehicles parked outside the carport. As he continued to pull forward, the officer saw a man lying under the carport near the rear steps of the home. He immediately parked his car and got out. As he walked around his vehicle, the officer saw a second man lying in the grass outside the carport. Both men were deceased. R. 68, l. 15 – 70, l. 23. They were later identified as Robert Marion Ford, Jr. and his twenty-five year old son, Robbie Stetson Ford.

It appeared that Robbie’s “pockets had been rifled through.” R. 88, ll. 4-7. He had a close range gunshot wound to the back of his head and a gunshot wound to his left flank. R. 207, l. 6 – 208, l. 12. Robert, his father, also had two gunshot wounds: one to the forehead and another under the chin. The wound to the forehead was an intermediate range wound while the wound to the chin was a close contact wound. R. 211, ll. 2-19.

Investigators processed the scene at the residence as well as the vehicle found in the field. The vehicle was identified as a Ford Escape that belonged to Robbie Ford. The keys to the vehicle were in the ignition. R. 130, ll. 18-20. Of significance, investigators collected a “partially burned skull cap from the front driver’s floorboard” of the car. R. 100, ll. 4-5. They also collected three cigarette butts from the ground just outside the driver’s door of the car where it was parked in the field. R. 124, ll. 8-20. The “skull cap” and the cigarette butts were transported to the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division for DNA analysis.

A DNA profile was developed from the three cigarette butts and from swabs of the skull cap. It was determined that the profile developed from all four items was the same. R. 326, ll. 2-17; R. 328, l. 4 – 329, l. 25. However, law enforcement was unable to match the DNA profile developed to a specific person. Consequently, they used “forensic genetic genealogy” to “generate investigative leads based on relationships to” the unknown DNA profile developed. R. 330, ll. 1-11.

Horry County Police was eventually provided with several names from an ancestry DNA company. Investigators began “surveillance on those people” and attempted “to recover abandoned DNA from them.” This included items such as discarded cigarette butts or coffee cups. One of these people was Appellant. On August 6, 2020, investigators observed Appellant discard a cigarette butt as he was driving down Highway 66. They collected this cigarette butt and transported it to SLED for DNA analysis. The DNA profile developed from the discarded cigarette butt matched the previously unknown profile developed from the three cigarette butts discovered near Robbie Ford’s vehicle and the “skull cap” collected from inside the car. R. 365, l. 1 – 367, l. 2. Appellant was arrested on August 18, 2020 and investigators collected a buccal swab from him pursuant to a search warrant. R. 367, ll. 3-21. Appellant’s known DNA profile

developed from the buccal swab likewise matched the DNA profile developed from the three cigarette butts and the “skull cap.” R. 347, l. 5 – 356, l. 1.

After Appellant was developed as a suspect, investigators reviewed “tower dump” data it had received in September 2018 from Verizon Wireless pursuant to a search warrant. Data from a tower that services the location where Robbie Ford’s vehicle was found showed the phone number associated with Appellant called Teresa Martin at 9:56 pm on August 17, 2018 and that Martin called the phone number associated with Appellant at 10:15 pm on August 17, 2018.

Teresa Martin, who was Appellant’s girlfriend in August 2018, testified against Appellant at trial. She pled guilty to accessory after the fact related to this case on the first day of Appellant’s trial. R. 249, ll. 3-9. However, her sentencing was deferred until after she testified against Appellant. Martin claimed she overheard Samantha Rabon, Robert Ford’s daughter and Robbie Ford’s half-sister, solicit Appellant to kill her father and brother “so she [Rabon] could inherit everything.” Martin claimed she dropped Appellant off near the Fords’ residence on the evening of August 17, 2018. Appellant was allegedly wearing black pants, a black shirt, and a “black toboggan” and was carrying a “little tool bag.”

Later that night, Appellant called Martin and asked her to pick him up. He was walking down Highway 917 in the pouring rain. Martin found Appellant and drove him back to her house. The next morning, Martin heard about the killings on the news and knew Appellant “had done it.” According to Martin, Rabon was supposed to pay Appellant twenty thousand dollars for the killings, but never did. R. 232, l. 15 – 243, l. 20.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006) (citing State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001)). “This Court is bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” Id. (citing State v. Quattlebaum, 338 S.C. 441, 452, 527 S.E.2d 105, 111 (2000)). “The trial judge’s factual findings on whether evidence should be suppressed due to a Fourth Amendment violation are reviewed for clear error.” Id. at 48-49, 625 S.E.2d at 220 (citing State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 665-666 (2000)).

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred by denying Appellant’s motion to suppress evidence from a cell phone “tower dump” obtained by law enforcement from Verizon Wireless in violation of Appellant’s rights under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and his right to privacy under Article 1, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution since the affidavit in support of the search warrant failed to establish probable cause.

### **Relevant Facts**

Appellant moved pretrial to suppress any evidence obtained from a “tower dump” because the search warrant used to obtain the records from Verizon Wireless was not supported by probable cause.<sup>1</sup> The search warrant listed three locations from which the police sought cell tower data from. The first location was 7200 Cookes Circle, Nichols, South Carolina, which was where the vehicle was found. The time period requested for this location was August 17, 2018 from 9:00 pm until August 18, 2018 at 12:00 am. The second location was 4591 Highway 19, Conway, South Carolina, which is where the bodies were located. The time period requested for this location was August 17, 2018 from 8:00 pm until August 18, 2018 at 11:00 pm. The final location was 2532 Magnolia Highway, Aynor, South Carolina, which was the residence of Samantha Rabon. The time period requested for this location was August 17, 2018 from 7:00 pm until August 18, 2018 at 12:00 am. R. 13, ll. 10-21; R. 16, ll. 10-20; R. 500-503.

The affidavit in support of the search warrant stated:

On August 18, 2018, police began an investigation into a homicide that occurred at 4591 Hwy 19 in the Conway section of Horry County. During the incident, two victims were shot and succumbed to their injuries. During the investigation, it was determined that one of the victim’s vehicle was missing and

---

<sup>1</sup> A “tower dump” is “a relatively novel law enforcement tool that provides investigators with the cell site location information (CSLI) for all devices that connected to specific cell towers during a particular time.” Commonwealth v. Perry, 184 N.E.3d 745, 751 (Mass. 2022).

presumed that the suspect(s) stole the vehicle after the fact. The vehicle was located approximately 100 yards from the intersection of Cookes Circle and Hwy 917 in the Nichols section of Horry County. The vehicle had been abandoned and set on fire. It is my belief that a search of cellphone towers in the area of both crimes will assist with identifying individuals who were in the same areas at the time of both the homicide and the vehicle fire, which based on the distance between the crimes would be very suspicious.

R. 500-503.

Defense counsel argued Appellant had a “protectible privacy interest” in his historic cell site location information stored on cell towers and routinely stored by his cell phone provider pursuant to the Fourth Amendment and Article 1, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution. Counsel acknowledged that whether an individual has a “protective privacy interest in tower dump records” is “an unsettled area of law” and has not been addressed by the appellate courts in South Carolina. He explained that the leading case is Carpenter v. United States, 585 U.S. 296 (2018), which was published shortly before the search warrant was obtained in this case. In Carpenter, the United States Supreme Court held law enforcement must obtain a search warrant when “seeking targeted cell site location information,” meaning cell site location information for a specific cell phone number. R. 17, l. 17 – 18, l. 11.

However, counsel explained that that is “not what we have here.” In this case, law enforcement used a search warrant to obtain the cell site location information for all phones connected to all towers that service the three different locations listed in the warrant. Defense counsel acknowledged that the Supreme Court in Carpenter “declined to extend the requirement of a search warrant to cell phone tower dumps” and “South Carolina has never decided whether or not a privacy interest exists in tower dump records.” Nevertheless, he argued that such a privacy interest does exist and the government must obtain a search warrant before obtaining cell tower dump records. R. 18, l. 12 – 19, l. 20.

In support of his argument, counsel cited to Commonwealth v. Perry, 184 N.E.3d 745, 751 (Mass. 2022), in which the Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts held a search warrant was required to obtain tower dump records. R. 19, l. 21 – 20, l. 2.

Here, law enforcement obtained a search warrant, which counsel argued meant “they also felt it prudent to get a warrant.” However, counsel argued the warrant was not supported by probable cause. R. 20, ll. 3-6. He asserted, “First off, the one glaring omission is site number three, Samantha Rabon’s house. Nowhere in any of that probable cause does it say a word to establish why they needed to get the information from cell towers at Samantha Rabon’s house. That is a complete and total lack of any probable cause showing that site.” Regarding the other locations, counsel argued law enforcement did not have “any evidence, not a shred of evidence to show a magistrate and to put in a probable cause affidavit that they were going to find anything. They wanted to see what they could find, not, oh we think it’s going to be here. It might be here, let’s just look and see.” Counsel accused the police of “going on a fishing expedition.” R. 14, l. 16 – 15, l.

As far as the time period specified for each location, counsel argued law enforcement included “nothing” in the affidavit that established what, if anything, occurred during that timeframe. He asserted, “They simply say a crime occurred here, another crime occurred here. We want to look at the cell phone tower data for both [locations]. That’s not probable cause.” R. 16, ll. 10-21.

Counsel concluded that the search warrant was not supported by probable cause and the data law enforcement obtained as a result of the warrant should be suppressed as well as “anything that came out of this data.” R. 16, l. 22 – 17, l. 5.

The assistant solicitor argued a search warrant is not required to obtain data from tower dumps. She explained that the holding in Carpenter was “narrowly tailored” and it did not address whether a warrant is required for tower dumps. She stated that law enforcement only obtained a warrant in this case because the cell phone provider required a warrant before it would release the data. Even if a warrant were required, the solicitor argued the affidavit in support of the search warrant established probable cause. R. 21, l. 11 – 25, l. 2.

In reply, defense counsel again asserted that whether a search warrant is required is a question of first impression in South Carolina. He argued a search warrant is required to obtain cell phone tower dump data “because the cell phone data that is being collected from these towers is nothing more than the same data in Carpenter only much more piecemeal.” R. 32, ll. 4-14. He later continued, “[T]he state, the government is really trying to put together United States citizens’ movements using many, many cell phone towers that service these cell site locations.” R. 33, ll. 12-16.

The search warrant was marked as Court’s Exhibit No. 1. However, the trial court refused to allow defense counsel to proffer testimony in support the motion to suppress. Counsel sought to proffer testimony from the affiant regarding whether he orally supplemented the affidavit before the magistrate and what evidence was obtained as a result of the warrant. R. 4, l. 2 – 13, l. 9.

The trial court ultimately found Appellant had no expectation of privacy in the tower dump data and, therefore, a search warrant was not required. R. 39, l. 5 – 40, l. 2.

## **Discussion**

The trial court erred by denying Appellant’s motion to suppress all evidence obtained from the tower dump received by law enforcement from Verizon Wireless in violation of

Appellant's rights under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and his right to privacy under Article 1, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution since the affidavit in support of the search warrant failed to establish probable cause.

### *Expectation of Privacy Under the Fourth Amendment*

The Fourth Amendment guarantees “the right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. Amend. IV. “The underlying command of the Fourth Amendment is always that searches and seizures be reasonable.” Wilson v. Arkansas, 514 U.S. 927, 931 (1995). Protection under the Fourth Amendment is afforded to those who have a legitimate expectation of privacy in the place searched. Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 143 (1978). To demonstrate an expectation of privacy, the defendant must show he had a subjective expectation of not being discovered and the expectation was one that society recognized as reasonable. Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 351, (1967); Oliver v. United States, 466 U.S. 170, 177 (1984). The Fourth Amendment is a personal right and an individual must invoke its protections. Minnesota v. Carter, 525 U.S. 83, 88 (1998).

In United States v. Carpenter, 585 U.S. 296 (2018), law enforcement used the Stored Communications Act to obtain from Carpenter's wireless carrier historic information and data establishing the location of his cell phone for nearly one hundred and thirty days. Carpenter grew out of an arrest of four men suspected of robbing a series of Radio Shack and T-Mobile stores in Detroit. Id. at 302. One of the men confessed that the group had robbed nine different stores in Michigan and Ohio. Id. The suspect identified fifteen accomplices who had participated in the robberies and gave the FBI some of their cell phone numbers. Id. Based on that information, prosecutors applied for and received a court order under 18 U.S.C. § 2703 of

the Stored Communications Act to obtain cell phone records for Carpenter and several other suspects. Id. That statute permitted “the Government to compel the disclosure of certain telecommunications records when ‘it offers specific and articulable facts showing that there are reasonable grounds to believe’ that the records sought ‘are relevant and material to an ongoing criminal investigation.’” Id. (quoting 18 U.S.C. § 2703(d)).

Prior to trial, Carpenter moved to suppress the cell site location information provided by the wireless carriers arguing that the government’s seizure of the records violated the Fourth Amendment because they had been obtained without a warrant supported by probable cause. Id. At trial, the government presented expert testimony about the cell site location information. Id. The expert explained that each time a cell phone taps into the wireless network, the carrier logs a time stamped record of the cell site and the particular sector that were used. Id. With this information, the expert produced maps that placed Carpenter’s phone near four of the charged robberies. Id. at 302-03. In the government’s view, the location records settled the case since they confirmed that Carpenter was right where the robberies occurred at the exact time they occurred. Id. at 303.

The Supreme Court held Carpenter had an expectation of privacy in the record of his physical movements as captured through cell site location information. While the Supreme Court acknowledged “the fact that the individual continuously reveals his location to his wireless carrier implicates the third party principle,” the Court rejected the application of the third party doctrine to historical cell site location information. Id. at 309. The Court reasoned, “Given the unique nature of the cell phone location records, the fact that the information is held by a third party does not by itself overcome the user’s claim to Fourth Amendment protection.” Id. Cell site location information is able to create a detailed chronicle of a person’s physical presence

compiled every day, every moment over a period of several years. See Id. at 311-12. For these reasons, the Supreme Court ultimately held “that an individual maintains a legitimate expectation of privacy in the record of his physical movements as captured through CSLI” and that “location information” obtained from wireless carriers is “the product of a search.” Id. at 310. Accordingly, the Court concluded that gathering CSLI is a Fourth Amendment search and when police are collecting CSLI under these circumstances, the Fourth Amendment requires a search warrant supported by a judicial finding of probable cause. Id.

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