RECEIVED

Nov 20 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
The Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

RANDY GRAINGER,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2023-000598

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

HON. JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, III
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit
P.O. Drawer 1276

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

genetic genealogy investigation through the Ancestry DNA company to develop a list of potential suspects. (R. p. 330; 365-366).

Appellant was one of the suspects that could feasibly match the DNA profile. Law enforcement began to conduct surveillance of Appellant in the hope of recovering some abandoned DNA for comparison. Officer Christopher Edwards testified that while observing Appellant driving on Hwy 66, Appellant discarded a cigarette out the door of his Suburban. Officer Edwards responded by stopping traffic and securing the cigarette butt for collection. (R. p. 365-366). This alternate standard was then provided for DNA analysis. In comparison to the DNA profile obtained from the three cigarette butts found at the crime scene, the State's experts concluded that the likelihood ratios, respectively, show that it was 180 septillion, 170 septillion, and 180 septillion times more likely that Appellant contributed to the DNA profiles of the cigarette butts, than would an unknown individual. (R. p. 349-352). When compared to the DNA analysis of the skull cap, there was a likelihood ratio indicating that it was 10 septillion times more likely that Appellant contributed to the DNA profile, than would an unknown individual.¹ (R. p. 355).

The State also presented the testimony of Teresa Martin, a codefendant who pled guilty to a reduced charge of accessory after the fact, in exchange for testifying on behalf of the State. (R. 249). Ms. Martin testified that she was the on-again-off-again girlfriend of Appellant during the time of the crimes, is the cousin of Sheila Ford Burris (Robert's ex-wife), and has known Samantha Rabon since Samantha was a toddler. (R. p. 232-234). Ms. Martin testified that she was present

¹ The DNA evidence collected demonstrated a single source for DNA contribution. (R. p. 326-328). The State's expert noted that they generally do not do comparisons of DNA profiles between two different pieces of crime scene evidence. However, she noted that with visual comparison the alleles from the profiles of each collected item appeared to match. (R. p. 329). In light of the comparison to the same known standard, they clearly do match. Prior to the conclusion of the DNA analysis, Appellant was arrested and a known standard was also obtained via buccal swab. (R. p. 342-343).

for the beginnings of a conversation between Samantha and Appellant that took place on the front porch of Sheila's home. She heard Samantha tell Appellant that she had a job for him; she needed him to "take care of her daddy and her brother and it had to be done before he went back to school so she could inherit everything." (R. p. 237). She testified that she understood Samantha's proposition to be one of hiring Appellant to "get rid of" her father. Upon hearing this, she left the porch and went inside. Ms. Martin testified that Appellant did not give any noticeable reaction to Samantha's comments prior to her leaving. (R. p. 237-238).

On the night of victims' murders, Ms. Martin agreed to give Appellant a ride to the victims' home around 5:30pm. She testified that he was wearing "black pants, black t-shirt with a pocket on it, and a black toboggan." She also noted that he had a closed "tool bag" with him, and that Appellant said he needed to fix the washer and dryer. Ms. Martin confessed that she believed it was "coded speech", and that when she dropped Appellant off, she knew what he was preparing to do. She even testified that she texted a coded message of her own to Samantha: "I'm home alone." She did this at Samantha's request to let her know when she was back home from dropping Appellant off. (R. p. 240-241).

Surveillance footage shows victim's car passing by Allbrook Grocery and Grill, at 9:13pm, which was approximately 6 miles away from victims' home. The 7200 Cookes Circle location where the car was dumped and burned, is approximately 4 miles further in the same direction. (R. p. 421-422). Ms. Martin testified that Appellant contacted her around 9:30 or 10:00pm, asking if she could come pick him up off the of the roadside on Hwy 917. She testified that she agreed to do so, but had to call him back because she could not find him in the rain at dark. When she picked him up, he was no longer wearing the toboggan she had seen him in earlier. (R. p. 241-242). Though Appellant initially denied doing the job, Ms. Martin later had a conversation with

Appellant where he was angry and wanted to go to Sheila's home. Ms. Martin asked why he was angry with Sheila and Appellant responded: "I'm not mad[] with her. . . it's her f'ing daughter. . . it wasn't no washer dryer, she paid me to take care of her daddy and brother." (R. p. 243, lines 5-14). He explained to Ms. Martin that "she told him if he would do it, she would pay him \$20,000." To Ms. Martin's knowledge, Appellant never received any money for his actions. (R. p. 243, lines 15-20).

The State then offered corroborative evidence in the form of records from the cell phone tower dumps they received from Verizon and AT&T², as well as from cell phone extractions taken from the phones themselves, pursuant to warrants. The State's expert, Karl Kangas, testified that the "shelf life" for tower dump data can vary, but is usually around one year. (R. p. 416). Texts demonstrate that the victims were at CW wings until 8:33 pm and were communicating with Samantha about their whereabouts. Mr. Kangas confirmed that Samantha's phone received a text from Ms. Martin stating "I'm at home." (R. p. 418-421). Mr. Kangas testified that a voice call was made to Ms. Martin from the phone associated with Appellant at 9:56pm on August 17, 2018, and it used the Verizon Tower that is Northeast of 7200 Cookes Circle.³ (R. p. 422, lines 14-15; 422-423). Shortly after, another call between these two phones was made at 10:15pm. (R. p. 424). These calls corroborate the testimony from Ms. Martin indicating an initial call asking to be picked up, and a subsequent call when she had difficulty finding him.

ISSUE AS IT WAS PRESENTED AT TRIAL

Appellant argued to the court during pretrial motions that he possessed a 4th amendment and state constitutional right to privacy concerning his cellular data, and that the search warrant

² The State ultimately admitted AT&T data dump records corresponding to Ms. Teresa Martin's phone use.

³ There was some confusion regarding whether it was an incoming or outgoing call.

used to obtain Verizon Wireless's⁴ tower dump data from the towers servicing three locations did not establish probable cause. He therefore argued that the information obtained from those records should be suppressed. Appellant further argued that any evidence that was later obtained through the use of the tower dump data should likewise be suppressed as fruit of the poisonous tree. (R. p. 4). The three locations in question for which corresponding tower dumps were requested included: 7200 Cooke Circle, between 9pm and 12am (where the car was left to burn); 4591 Highway 19, between 8am and 11pm, (where victims were found murdered); and 2532 Magnolia Highway, between 7pm and 12am (Samantha Rabon's residence). (R. p. 13; 16).

Defense counsel read the pertinent portion of the search warrant into the record, stating:

On August 18th, 2018 police began an investigation into a homicide that occurred at 4591 Highway 19 in the Conway section of Horry County. During the incident two victims were shot and succumbed to their injuries. During the investigation it was determined that one of the victim's vehicle was missing and presumed that the suspect stole the vehicle after the fact. The vehicle was located approximately 100 yards from the intersection of Cooke Circle and Highway 19 in the Nichols section of Horry County. The vehicle had been abandoned and set on fire. It is my belief that a search of cell phone towers in the area of both crimes will assist with identifying individuals who were in these same areas at the time of both the homicide and the vehicle fire, which based on the distance between the crimes will be very suspicious.

(R. p. 14-15). Appellant first asserted that the tower dump associated with Samantha's residence was entirely lacking in probable cause, as the warrant does not mention any basis for which it was sought. He continued by arguing that the justification for the search warrant that was provided for the other two locations was insufficient such that the locations of crimes does not establish

⁴ The State ultimately had tower dump records from Verizon Wireless, AT&T, and T-Mobile. However, Appellant noted at the time of pretrial motion hearing that the solicitor was intending to introduce only records from Verizon Wireless, and therefore narrowed the hearing to a question of admissibility of those records specifically. (R. p. 4). While AT&T records were also introduced during trial, they corresponded to Ms. Martin's records, not Appellant's.

probable cause of finding evidence related to those crimes in the tower dump. Appellant argued that the suspicious nature of a potentially correlated phone number at both locations fails to establish probable cause, and that the effort was nothing more than a fishing expedition. (R. p. 14-16).

While Appellant insisted that the tower dump data involved a protected privacy interest, he conceded that the issue is unsettled under South Carolina jurisprudence. (R. p. 18). In truth it is not just unsettled, but unvisited in any published case. (R. p. 32). He further conceded that *U.S v. Carpenter*, which was handed down shortly before this crime was committed, *explicitly excludes tower dumps* from its holding. Nevertheless, Appellant argued that CSLI (taken from a specific subscriber) and tower dumps are the same information that allows law enforcement to reconstruct complicated movements of a suspect. In reliance upon the Massachusetts case of *Commonwealth v. Perry*, Appellant argued that the court should extend the constitutional privacy protections contemplated by *Carpenter* and find the existing search warrant invalid. (R. p. 18-19).

The State responded with a multifaceted argument for denying the motion to suppress. First, in referencing *Carpenter*, the State asserted that under both state and federal law there is no search warrant requirement established for seeking tower dump data. He also explained the distinguishing facts of *Carpenter* that led to a search warrant requirement. Specifically, the court order led to law enforcement receiving 127 days of records and nearly 13,000 data points specific to defendant Carpenter. (R. p. 21-22). He also noted that the type of information gathered was different, wherein GPS information provides a timestamped intimate window into the person's life, such as their visits to houses of worship, hospitals, doctors, or lawyers' offices. In contrast, investigators seeking tower dump data pertaining to victims' murder sought only a few hours of

tower/sector data servicing each location, and received *only the cellphone numbers*⁵ which utilized the towers in question – subscriber information, text messages, and GPS data were provided. In the case at hand, the extent of any one individual’s data was drastically reduced both in quantity and in type in comparison to *Carpenter*. (R. p. 22-23). In opposition to Appellant’s supposed concerns with fruit of the poisonous tree, the State characterized the tower dump as an investigative tool that only became relevant *after* officers were able to develop a focus on a specific suspect in which to compare the data. (R. p. 70). Surprisingly, Appellant’s own arguments conceded this fact. (R. p. 20, line 20 through p. 21, line 6; p. 34-35). The State thoroughly informed the court on how Appellant became a suspect in this case, not from tower dump records, but from analysis of trace DNA left on multiple pieces of evidence at the scene. (R. p. 2-3).

The State also challenged Appellant’s assertion that law enforcement sought a search warrant out of concern that they were violating privacy rights. Instead, the trial court was made aware that cell service companies require a documented request for data, and a search warrant is the only means of satisfying the servicer’s demand. Subpoena power does not exist in the absence of an existing case, leaving search warrants the only standard form for the request. To that end, law enforcement’s acquisition of a court issued search warrant supported by probable cause was satisfying a private company protocol, not a state or federal law. (R. p. 23).

Next, the State argued that the search warrant was valid and established probable cause to receive the data in question, even in the absence of a warrant requirement. The burden for establishing probable cause is not a difficult one to meet, especially considering the “pervasiveness of cell phones” in today’s society. The State argued that probable cause was established given the

⁵ Appellant raised concern that more than cell phone numbers was requested. While there was dispute as to whether Verizon ever provides subscriber information or text messages by way of a tower dump, such information was ultimately not provided here. (R. p. 37-38).

fact that the inquiry could be narrowed to the areas in question, the high likelihood that the suspect owned and operated a cell phone over the course of committing the crimes, and the probative value of evidence would be enhanced by cross comparing the data between two towers as they correspond to the two crime scenes. (R. p. 24). Without conceding the absence of a law requiring a search warrant, the State argued that the tower dump related to Samantha’s residence (which lacked the clear indication of a crime being committed) would not be fatal to the entire search warrant, and noted that if the trial court were to find a search warrant required but probable cause lacking to that specific tower dump, the appropriate remedy would be to simply preclude the State from using data from that tower.⁶ (R. p. 25-26).

Ultimately, the trial court concluded that a search warrant was not required for purposes of obtaining the tower dump data and allowed the State to admit the evidence in question. (R. p. 39). Notwithstanding that controlling determination, the trial court also noted that it found the warrant sufficient as it pertained to the two crime scenes referenced. (R. p. 26).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When an Appellate Court decides an appeal from a criminal conviction, it’s power “is limited to correcting errors of law.” *State v. Beaty*, 423 S.C. 26, 41, 813 S.E.2d 502, 510 (2018). “The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 57–58 (2011) (quoting *State v. Williams*, 386 S.C. 503, 509, 690 S.E.2d 62, 65 (2010)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of

⁶ Clarification is provided to the court that there is an error in Officer Dudley’s report (which was not offered into evidence) which attributes one of calls between Appellant and Ms. Martin to the towers servicing Samantha’s residence. It instead utilized the towers that service 7200 Cookes Circle where the vehicle was left on fire. (R. p. 29).

law.” *Id.*, (quoting *State v. McDonald*, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000)). To warrant reversal based on the wrongful admission of evidence, the complaining party must prove resulting prejudice. *Id.* In considering the proper issuance of a search warrant “the duty of a reviewing court is simply to ensure that the magistrate had a ‘substantial basis’ for ... conclud[ing] that probable cause existed.” *State v. Keith*, 356 S.C. 219, 223, 588 S.E.2d 145, 147 (Ct. App. 2003) (quoting *State v. Weston*, 329 S.C. 287, 291, 494 S.E.2d 801, 803 (1997)). “This review, like the determination by the magistrate, is governed by the ‘totality of the circumstances’ test.” *Id.*, (quoting *State v. King*, 349 S.C. 142, 148, 561 S.E.2d 640, 643 (Ct.App.2002)). On review, great deference should be given to a magistrate's determination of probable cause. *Id.*

“Most errors that occur during trial, including those that violate a defendant's constitutional rights, are trial errors that are subject to harmless error analysis. *State v. Jenkins*, 412 S.C. 643, 651, 773 S.E.2d 906, 909 (2015).” “Harmless error analyses are fact-intensive inquiries and are not governed by a definite set of rules.” *Id.* An error is considered harmless when it could not have reasonably affected the result of the trial. *State v. Tapp*, 398 S.C. 376, 389, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012).

ARGUMENTS

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